KERALA HINDUS OF NORTH AMERICA (A Non-Profit Organization)

BYLAWS



GK Pillai/TX President 2021-2023 Suresh Nair/MN General Secretary 2021-2023 Gopalan Nair/AZ Bylaw Committee Chair 2021-2023 /* This page intentionally left blank*/

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Table of Contents

Prean	reamble	
ARTI	CLE 1 (Name)	9
1.1	Name	9
1.2	Registered Office and Registered Agent	9
1.3	Nature	9
ARTI	CLE 2 (Objectives)	9
2.1	Objectives	9
ARTICLE 3 (Membership)		10
3.1	Members	10
3.2	Biennial Membership	10
3.2.1	Duration of Biennial Membership	10
3.2.2	(i) Calendar Year	10
3.2.2	(ii) Biennial Membership Year(s)	10
3.2.3	Renewal	10
3.2.4	Eligibility	10
3.2.5	Biennial Membership Expiration	11
3.2.6	Dues - Biennial Membership	11
3.3	Institutional Membership	11
3.3.1	Eligibility	11
3.3.2	Renewal	12
3.3.3	Dues – Institutional Membership	12
3.3.4	Expiration	12
3.4	Life Membership	12
3.4.1	Duration of the Life Membership	12
3.4.2	Dues – Life Membership	13
3.4.3	Membership Upgrade	13
3.5	Honorary Membership	13
3.5.1	Voting Rights – Honorary Members	13
3.5.2	No Application	13
3.6	Membership Application Process	13

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

GK Pillai Suresh Nair Sn

Page 3 of 43

Gopalan Nair

3.6.1	Application Forms	13
3.6.2	Review by Board of Trustees	13
3.6.3	Custody of membership application	14
3.7	Voting Rights – General	14
3.7.1	Biennial Member or Life Member	14
3.7.2	Non-Transferable	14
3.7.3	Electronic Voting	14
ARTIC	CLE 4 (General Body)	15
4.1	Voting Members	15
4.2	General Body Meeting	15
4.2.1	Biennial General Body Meeting	15
4.2.2	Interim General Body	15
4.3	Special General Body Meeting	15
4.3.1	Called by Board of Directors	16
4.3.2	Called by Board of Trustees	16
4.3.3	Called by KHNA Members	16
4.3.4	General Body Notice	16
4.4	Quorum	16
4.4.1	No Quorum	16
4.4.2	Meeting presided By	16
ARTIC	CLE 5 (Directors)	16
5.1	Board of Directors (BOD)	17
5.2	Structure	17
5.3.	Term Limit	17
5.4	Director's Power	17
5.5	Regular BOD Meeting	17
5.6	Place of Meeting	17
5.7	Quorum	17
5.8	Vacancies	17
5.9	Unexcused Absence	17
5.10	Disciplinary Processes	18
5.10.1	Initiation of Disciplinary Actions	18
5.10.2	2. Judicial Council Review	18
5.10.3	Review and Ratification by Board of Directors	18
5.10.4	Review and Ratification by Board of Trustees	18

GK Pillai

5.10.5	Enforcement	18
5.10.6	Removal	19
5.11	Conflict of Interest of Directors with offices held in Competing Organizations.	19
5.12	Sub-Committees	19
5.13	Term of Sub-Committee	19
5.14	Standing Committee	19
5.14.1	Yuva Forum	19
5.14.2	Women's Forum	20
5.14.3	Seniors Forum	20
5.14.4	Sewa Forum	20
5.14.5	Finance & Audit Forum	20
5.14.6	Spiritual Forum	20
5.14.7	Youth Forum	20
5.14.8	B Advisory Board	20
5.14.9	Health Forum	20
5.14.1	0 Economic Forum	21
ARTIC	CLE 6 (Officers)	21
6.1	Structure	21
6.2	President	21
6.3	Vice President	21
6.4	General Secretary	21
6.5	Joint Secretary	21
6.6	Treasurer	22
6.6.1	Biennial Budget	22
6.6.2	BOT Account	22
6.7	Joint Treasurer	22
6.8	Disability or Refusal to Act	22
6.9	Tenure and Qualification for the Officers	23
6.10	Conflict of Interest of Officers with offices held in Competing Organizations	23
ARTIC	CLE 7 (Board of Trustees (BOT))	23
7.1	Structure	23
7.2	Budget	23
7.3	Advisory Capacity	24
7.4	Board Secretary	24
7.5	Composition	24

Page 5 of 43

Gopalan Nair

7.6	Meetings	24
7.7	Attend BOD Meetings	24
7.8	Meeting Frequency	24
7.9	Tenure and Qualification	25
7.10	Vacancies	25
7.11	Unexcused Absences	25
7.12	Conflict of Interest of Trustees with offices held in Competing Organizations.	25
7.13	Sub-Committees	25
7.14	Term of a Sub-Committee	26
ARTI	CLE 8 (Judicial Council)	26
8.1	Judicial Council	26
8.2.	Qualifications and Term	26
8.3	Duties	27
8.4	Meeting	27
8.5	Notice	27
8.6	Quorum	27
8.7	Voting	27
8.8	Interference	27
8.9	Campaigns	28
8.10	Enforcement	28
ARTI	CLE 9 (Contracts, Checks, Deposits, Books & Records)	28
9.1	Contracts	28
9.1.1	Checks and Drafts	28
9.1.2	Expense Reimbursement	29
9.2	Deposits	29
9.2.1	General Funds	29
9.2.2	Membership Fee and Endowment Fund	29
9.2.3	Restricted Funds	29
9.2.4	Transfer of Funds	30
9.2.5	Accounts	30
9.3	Gifts	30
9.4	Official Records and Seal	30
9.4.1	Corporate Assets & Records	30
9.4.2	Membership List	30
9.5	Fiscal Year	30

Page 6 of 43

Gopalan Nair

9.6	Handing Over	30
9.6.1	Transition Period	31
9.6.2	Handing over meeting date	31
9.6.3	Handing over meeting notice	31
9.6.4	Handing over meeting agenda	31
9.6.5	KHNA Official Records transfer	32
9.6.6	KHNA Website	32
ARTIC	CLE 10 (Financial Records and Annual Procedure)	32
10.1	Financial Records	32
10.2	KHNA Reports	33
10.2.1	Biennial Operational Report	33
10.2.2	Biennial Financial Report	33
10.3	Public Inspection	33
10.4	Audit and Books	33
10.5	Audit Committee	33
10.6	Audits by Certified Public Accountant	33
10.7	Revenue over Expense	34
10.8	Close PO Box and Bank Accounts	34
10.9	Assets	34
10.10	Remuneration	34
10.11	Seed Money for New Convention	34
ARTIC	CLE 11 (Elections)	35
11.1	Election Committee	35
11.1.1	Nomination	35
11.1.2	Nomination Submission	35
11.1.3	Candidate Eligibility	35
11.1.4	Election Schedule	36
11.2	Voters List	36
11.3	Election Process	36
11.4	Announcing Result	36
11.5	Election of BOT Chair, Vice Chair & Secretary	36
11.6	Election Expense	36
ARTIC	CLE 12 (General Provisions)	37
12.1	Amendments to the Bylaws	37
12.1.1	By Members	37

12.1.2	Committee	37
12.1.3	Amendment Process	37
12.1.4	Two-Third Required	37
12.1.5	Effective Date	37
12.1.6	Resolutions by the General Body	37
12.1.7	Supremacy of the Bylaws	37
12.2	Regional Conventions	38
12.3	Rules of Order	38
12.4	Dissolution	38
13.0	Abbreviations and Terms Used	38
RESOL	UTIONS	40

Page 8 of 43

Gopalan Nair

KERALA HINDUS OF NORTH AMERICA(A Non-Profit Organization)

BYLAWS

Preamble

Hindus originating from the state of Kerala, India, living in North America have joined together under this national organization to conduct, coordinate, and promote activities directed to preserve the values of Hindu Culture, and to protect Hindu Dharma.

ARTICLE 1 (Name)

1.1 Name

The name of the corporation shall be Kerala Hindus of North America, Inc., hereinafter referred to as KHNA in this constitution.

1.2 Registered Office and Registered Agent

The Corporation shall have and continuously maintain in the State of Texas a registered office and a registered agent. The registered office may be but need not be, identical with the principal office of the corporation in the State of Texas, and the Corporation's Board of Directors may change the address of the registered office from time to time.

1.3 Nature

The corporation shall be a non-political, non-profit organization to perform religious and charitable activities as set forth in Internal Revenue Code section 501(c) (3) of 1954.

ARTICLE 2 (Objectives)

2.1 Objectives

The objectives of Kerala Hindus of North America are to:

- a. Provide a forum to meet and discuss the religious and spiritual needs of the Kerala Hindu community in North America.
- b. Encourage and help Kerala Hindu community of North America to form prayer groups and Hindu Organizations to further and strengthen the objectives of KHNA.
- c. Conduct annual or biennial religious conventions.
- d. Provide the members an environment to practice Hindu religious activities.
- e. Provide the benefits of teachings of Hindu religion, culture and educational values to the community at large.
- f. Teach and develop an understanding of the contributions of India and Hindu religion to the world.
- g. Own and operate places of worship for the benefit of the people who believe in Hindu Dharma.
- h. Assist other non-profit charitable organizations engaged in the activities for the welfare of mankind irrespective of race, caste, community, religion and national origin.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

GK Pillai

Suresh Nair 5%

Gopalan Nair 🛴 🔾

Page 9 of 43

- i. Provide guidance and/or arrange religious classes for children and adults and to arrange for and conduct various educational programs, seminars, meetings, study tours, and such activities to educate the Kerala Hindus of North America about Hindu religion and their responsibility as Hindus in this multicultural society.
- j. Work as a common platform for the Kerala Hindus of North America, to liaison with other organizations and governmental agencies to safeguard the rights of Kerala Hindus in particular on matters that will affect their rights to practice Hindu religion and in general join with other Hindu religious organizations to protect and promote Hindu religious practices in North America and internationally.
- k. Coordinate charity service (sewa) activities in North America and India including financial assistance for education.

ARTICLE 3 (Membership)

3.1 Members

KHNA shall have the following categories of membership.

- A. Biennial Membership
- B. Institutional Membership
- C. Life Membership
- D. Honorary Membership

3.2 Biennial Membership

Any individual who satisfies the eligibility criteria as defined in Section 3.2.4 can apply for the Biennial membership in the prescribed form issued by KHNA along with the prescribed fees.

3.2.1 Duration of Biennial Membership

The Biennial Membership shall be valid for biennial membership years as defined in 3.2.2 (ii).

3.2.2 (i) Calendar Year

For the purpose of this constitution a calendar year is defined from January 1^{st} through December 31^{st} of the same year.

3.2.2 (ii) Biennial Membership Year(s)

The Biennial Membership years shall be the duration between two biennial conventions of KHNA and shall be valid from the first day of a KHNA biennial convention until the previous day of the beginning of the next KHNA biennial convention.

3.2.3 Renewal

An existing member or a member, whose membership has expired, if in good standing, can renew the Biennial Membership. The Biennial Membership shall be renewed by submitting a duly completed membership application form issued by KHNA along with the prescribed fees.

3.2.4 Eligibility

K Pillai Suresh Nair 5%

Page 10 of 43

Gopalan Nair

- i. All members shall have attained the age of 18 and shall be legal residents of North America and shall belong to Kerala Hindus or their descendants sharing the objectives of KHNA and abiding by the Articles of Incorporation and the bylaws of KHNA. Those with citizenship, permanent resident status, student/work visa shall be considered legal residents. Visitors are not eligible for membership.
- ii. Membership application form must be accompanied by the prescribed fee using a personal check or a credit card, accepted by KHNA, issued in the name of the applicant.
- iii. The applicant must be in 'Good Standing' and shall not have any financial dues with KHNA.
- iv. Husband and wife are eligible for individual memberships. Membership applications may be combined or separate.

3.2.5 Biennial Membership Expiration

The biennial membership shall be effective for the period as defined in Section 3.2.2(ii) and shall expire at the end of the duration.

3.2.6 Dues - Biennial Membership

i. Non-Registrants of Biennial Convention

The biennial membership fee shall be One Hundred USD (\$100.00) per person for non-registrants and can be changed by the General Body by a simple majority vote and the new membership fee shall be effective only from first day after the next KHNA Biennial Convention. Such membership renewal is available for members who have previously registered and attended at least one of the past KHNA biennial conventions and shall be effective upon acceptance of the application and valid only till the previous day of the upcoming convention. Renewal application along with the biennial membership fee must be submitted within 6 months from 1st day of immediate past convention. Any disputes on the eligibility for Biennial membership for non-registrants shall be resolved by the Trustee Board per 7.1(xii)

ii. Registrants of Biennial Convention

The Membership fee shall be fifty USD (\$50.00) per family and shall be included in the registration fee and hence husband and wife of a registered family automatically become the members of KHNA. Individual registration fee shall be \$25 per person with single registration for convention. Youth between the ages 18 to 26 included in the family registration can become members of KHNA with voting rights by paying \$25 per person.

3.3 Institutional Membership

Institutional Membership is issued for an indefinite period subject to eligibility as detailed in 3.3.1., provided a good standing report is submitted every 2 years.

3.3.1 Eligibility

A Hindu religious organization is eligible to apply for the Institutional membership provided that organization meets all of the following requirements:

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Gopalan Nair

Page 11 of 43

- a) The organization is registered with the local city or state as a not-for-profit organization.
- b) Has submitted reports of at least one year of religious and other activity with the website address and pictures of activities.
- c) Subscribes to the aims and objectives of Kerala Hindus of North America and agree to abide by the constitution and bylaws of Kerala Hindus of North America.
- d) Has a minimum of 10 families participating in the religious activities.
- e) Submits an application, in the prescribed form approved by KHNA Board of Directors, along with other necessary documents as below:
 - 1. Certificate of incorporation
 - 2. Certificate of good standing from the state of incorporation.
 - 3. List of active members with their address
 - 4. Application fee using the organization check
- f. Any Hindu Organization, who is an Institutional member, shall not use the 501(C) (3) status of KHNA for their purpose.

3.3.2 Renewal

The institutional membership shall remain valid as long as the organization maintains its non-profit status and remains active with at least 10 families participating in religious activities.

3.3.3 Dues - Institutional Membership

The Institutional membership fee shall be One Hundred Dollars (US \$100.00) payable only one time and can be changed by the General Body with a simple majority vote and the new membership fee shall be effective only from next biennial convention.

3.3.4 Expiration

The institutional membership shall remain valid as long as the organization maintains its non-profit status and remains active with at least 10 families participating in religious activities.

3.4 **Life Membership**

Any individual who has registered and attended at least one KHNA Biennial convention in the past, and who satisfies the eligibility criteria as defined in Section 3.2.4 can apply for the Life membership in the prescribed form issued by KHNA Board of Trustees. Life members are not required to pay the biennial membership fee during convention registration. Life members have the following responsibilities:

- If required, serve in the election committee appointed by BOT. i.
- Participate in GB for making/revising KHNA policies. ii.
- iii. Review the annual/biennial budget and actively participate in making financial decisions.
- iv. If invited, serve in the KHNA Advisory Board.

3.4.1 Duration of the Life Membership

Page 12 of 43
Gopalan Nair KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023 Suresh Nair 5%

The Membership shall be valid for the lifetime of the applicant and shall be effective from the date of approval.

3.4.2 Dues - Life Membership

The life membership fee for an individual shall be One Thousand USD (\$1000) and shall be One Thousand Five Hundred USD (\$1500) for couples. The fee can be changed by the General Body with a simple majority vote and the new membership fee shall be effective only from the next biennial convention.

3.4.3 Membership Upgrade

- A current biennial member can upgrade his membership from biennial to life by paying the difference in dues between the current life membership fee and the current biennial membership fee before the expiration of the biennial membership.
- ii. Life membership fee for the spouse of a current life member shall be Five Hundred USD (\$500) and the fee can be changed by the General Body with a simple majority vote and the new membership fee shall be effective only from the next biennial convention.

3.5 Honorary Membership

KHNA with the approval of the Board of Directors and Board of Trustees may confer honorary membership on individuals in recognition of their public services, and outstanding contributions to the community. Honorary members can voluntarily resign their membership status by submitting a letter to the Secretary of the Board of Trustees, which shall automatically become effective on receipt. Honorary members are granted full individual complementary registration to the KHNA Biennial convention, but advance registration is required.

3.5.1 Voting Rights - Honorary Members

Honorary members will not have voting rights on any matters of KHNA which requires a voting to reach at a decision.

3.5.2 No Application

Honorary members shall not be required to submit any application and shall not have to pay any dues or application fee. Honorary membership is conferred for the rest of the life of the individual and cannot hold any offices of KHNA.

3.6 Membership Application Process

3.6.1 Application Forms

All applications for membership in the prescribed form approved by KHNA Board of Trustees must be duly completed and shall be sent to the General Secretary of KHNA along with the prescribed fee. This approved membership form shall be an integral part of all Biennial convention registration package.

3.6.2 Review by Board of Trustees

a. Biennial membership:

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Gopalan Nair $\int_{\mathcal{U}}^{\omega}$

Page 13 of 43

The biennial membership application is automatically approved unless it does not meet the membership criteria as mentioned in 3.2.4. The original application shall be handed over to the Board of Trustees and the fee shall be deposited into the Board of Trustees' account maintained for this purpose. Any application deemed to not meeting the membership criteria by the General Secretary shall be reviewed by the Board of Trustees and a notice of rejection along with the reasons for disqualification shall be sent to the applicant within 14 days of receipt of the application.

b. Institutional Membership:

All Institutional membership applications received by the General Secretary shall be reviewed by the Board of Directors within forty-five (45) days of the receipt of the application to ensure eligibility of the Organization as per 3.3.1. Secretary shall send all reviewed Institutional applications to the Chairman of the Board of Trustees with the BOD's recommendation. The Board of Trustees may approve the recommendation and notify the Secretary, who shall inform the organization of the decision and verify that the application fee is deposited into Board of Trustees' account maintained for this purpose. The copy of the non-approved application shall be kept with the BOT. The Board of Trustees shall return the original application along with the application fee to the Institution. If the Board of Directors do not process the application within forty-five (45) days and the organization do not receive a reply within ninety (90) days of the date of receipt of the application, the organization can resubmit the application to the Board of Trustees for processing and the Trustees' decision shall be final.

3.6.3 Custody of membership application

All original approved applications and a true copy of one of the either electronic or hard copies of the rejected applications shall remain with the Board of Trustees. All applications must have a copy of the proof of payment attached for audit and verification.

3.7 Voting Rights – General

3.7.1 Biennial Member or Life Member

Each biennial member or life member shall be entitled to one vote on any matter requiring a voting of the members to reach at a decision in the General Body. Any membership received, approved or renewed within sixty (60) days of the election date shall not be entitled to vote in the General Election.

3.7.2 Non-Transferable

All voting rights are not transferable, and no proxy vote or postal votes shall be considered as valid vote.

3.7.3 Electronic Voting

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Gopalan Nair 🛴 w

Page 14 of 43

Electronic voting may be considered as valid vote with appropriate security and validation under special circumstances with the approval of the Board of Trustees.

ARTICLE 4 (General Body)

4.1 **Voting Members**

The current biennial members, and life members, are the Voting Members and constitute the General body.

4.2 **General Body Meeting**

4.2.1 Biennial General Body Meeting

General body meeting of the members shall be held biennially at the convention location for the purpose of electing the Board of Directors, Board of Trustees, appointing internal auditors and for the transacting such other business deemed necessary by the Board of Directors. Written notice of the biennial meeting with the agenda shall be sent via electronic copy at least forty-five (45) days prior to the meeting to all members of KHNA. The agenda shall include, but not limited to, the following:

- President's Remarks i.
- ii. Biennial Report by Secretary
- Biennial Report by Treasurer iii.
- Convention Review iv.
- Suggestions/Recommendations v.
- Resolutions, if any vi.
- **Appointment of Internal Auditors** vii.
- Biennial Election of BOD & BOT viii.

4.2.2 Interim General Body

There shall be an Interim General Body of the voting members. Written notice or electronic mail of the Interim GB meeting with the agenda shall be sent via electronic copy at least forty-five (45) days prior to the meeting to all members of KHNA. If the agenda includes Bylaw amendment the protocol for Bylaw amendments must be followed as per this Bylaw. The agenda shall include, but not limited to the following:

- i. President's Remarks
- ii. Annual Report by Secretary
- Approval of Audited Accounts of the previous convention iii.
- **Budget Review and Suggestions for BOD** iv.
- **Presentation by Standing Committee Chairs** v.
- Approval and revision of policies vi.
- Bylaw amendment, if any vii.
- Resolutions, if any viii.

4.3 **Special General Body Meeting**

Suresh Nair 5%

Page 15 of 43

Gopalan Nair (w

4.3.1 Called by Board of Directors

Special meetings of the General Body may be held whenever called in writing by a majority decision taken by the Board of Directors. At least forty-five (45) days' notice with the specific agenda shall be given to all voting members for such general body meetings.

4.3.2 Called by Board of Trustees

Special meetings of the General Body may be held whenever called in writing by a majority decision taken by the Board of Trustees. At least forty-five (45) days' notice with the specific agenda shall be given to all voting members for such general body meetings.

4.3.3 Called by KHNA Members

A member can also petition the President or the Board to call a Special Meeting of the members by explicitly stating the purpose for such a meeting. The request for such a meeting, signed by at least twenty (25) per cent of the total voting members as per Section 4.1.1 shall be submitted to the KHNA Secretary in writing. Such a meeting, after verifying the validity of the members, shall be called within ninety (90) days from the receipt of such a petition by the BOD or BOT as the case may be and shall include only item in the agenda as requested in the petition. Written notice of the petitioned GB meeting with the agenda shall be sent at least forty-five (45) days prior to the meeting to all voting members of KHNA.

4.3.4 General Body Notice

All General body notice shall be sent by the KHNA Secretary upon request by the BOD or BOT. The GB shall stick to the announced agenda and shall not decide on any other item, which is not in the agenda.

4.4 Quorum

A quorum of the general body meeting, except for bylaw amendment, shall be at least one-third (1/3) of the total members.

4.4.1 No Quorum

If a quorum is not present, the General Body shall disburse for half an hour and the meeting shall reconvene after thirty (30) minutes which shall be considered to constitute the Quorum and all decisions taken shall be valid and binding on KHNA.

4.4.2 Meeting presided By

All General Body Meetings are presided over by the President. BOT Chair, Secretary, and the Treasurer shall share the head table/Stage of any GB. If the President, by any chance, cannot preside or is not available to preside the meeting, the BOT Chair shall preside the GB meeting.

ARTICLE 5 (Directors)

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

GK Pillai

Suresh Nair 5%

Gopalan Nair

5.1 Board of Directors (BOD)

5.2 Structure

There shall be Twenty-five (25) members in the Board of Directors, excluding exofficio member. Twenty-two (22) shall be directly elected from the general body membership for a period of two (2) years or until next biennial convention and shall consist of the President, Vice President, General Secretary, Jt. Secretary, Treasurer, Jt. Treasurer, and sixteen (16) other directors. Out of the sixteen (16), one position in the Board of Directors shall be reserved for a youth member (between 18 to 26 years of age) and another position shall be reserved for a Yuva whose age is between twenty-seven (27) and forty (40). The immediate past (outgoing) President shall automatically become the non-voting Ex-Officio of the Board of Directors. To assure a fair representation from all cities/states, at the hand-over meeting rest of the three (3) members shall be nominated and recommended by the Board of Directors to the Board of Trustees for final approval.

5.3. Term Limit

No directors shall be elected for the same Executive office for more than two consecutive terms.

5.4 Director's Power

Each member will act only as a director; individual directors shall have no power as such. All directors need to be active members of KHNA.

5.5 Regular BOD Meeting

The Board of Directors shall meet at least twelve (12) times per calendar year and as mentioned in 5.7. At least one meeting per year shall be held as a face-to-face meeting.

5.6 Place of Meeting

The meeting place of the Board of Directors shall be communicated by the General Secretary. Since the members are from all across North America, such meetings shall also be coordinated through electronic media. All members, including the ex-officio members shall be invited for all the meetings of the Board of Directors

5.7 Quorum

A simple majority of the number of Board members shall constitute the quorum for Board of Directors meeting.

5.8 Vacancies

Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors shall be filled by a majority decision by the Board of Directors for the unexpired term of the predecessor in office.

5.9 Unexcused Absence

If any member of the Board of Directors fails to attend three consecutive meetings, he/she shall be removed from the Board of Directors after giving due notice, and if proper explanation is not received within 15 days from the receipt of the notice, the vacancy shall be filled as allowed under 5.8.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

1

Gopalan Nair 🛴 👊

5.10 Disciplinary Processes

5.10.1 Initiation of Disciplinary Actions

Disciplinary action can be initiated against any elected official of KHNA by submitting a detailed list of alleged behavior subject to discipline with supporting documentation to the Judicial council by any member of KHNA.

5.10.2 Judicial Council Review

The Judicial council shall treat any request for disciplinary action with utmost urgency and shall review, seek explanations, deliberate, and decide on a recommendation of action within FOURTEEN DAYS of receipt of the alleged complaint. The recommendations to discipline an elected official of KHNA can include but not limited to (a) suspension of the official from his/her KHNA official duties (b) removal of the official.

5.10.3 Review and Ratification by Board of Directors

The General Secretary shall call an emergency meeting of the BOD within five business days of receipt of the recommendations from the judicial council, in which the Judicial Council members shall be invited to present the recommendations and request ratification by two third of the members present and voting. If a recommendation for suspension or removal of a member of BOD is adopted, the meeting shall further nominate by the approval of two thirds of the members present and voting a candidate to hold the position during the period of the official's absence. A recommendation for the removal shall be followed by the procedures of 5.10.6

5.10.4 Review and Ratification by Board of Trustees

The Secretary of the BOT shall call an emergency meeting of the BOT within five business days of receipt of the recommendations from the judicial council, in which the Judicial Council members shall be invited to present the recommendations and request ratification by two third of the members present and voting. . If a recommendation for suspension or removal of a member of BOT is adopted, the meeting shall further nominate by the approval of two thirds of the members present and voting a candidate to hold the position during the period of the official's absence. A recommendation for the removal shall be followed by the procedures of 5.10.6

5.10.5 Enforcement

The recommendations of the Judicial Council with respect to any dispute shall be binding on KHNA elected officials after ratification by both BOT and BOD according to 5.10.3 and 5.10.4. If there is disagreement regarding the recommendation of the judicial council and its ratification by BOT and BOD, the affected party/parties shall have the right to appeal to the General Body which shall discuss the matter at its next regularly scheduled meeting; and the decision of the General Body shall be final. However, during the period of

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 18 of 43

appeal, any temporary suspension of the official shall be in force until reversed by the General Body considering the appeal.

5.10.6 Removal

Any elected official of KHNA can only be removed by a two-third majority in a Special General Body meeting called for that purpose. A written notice of such meeting with the removal of elected official as a specific item in the agenda must be sent to all GB Members before Sixty (60) days of such General body meeting.

5.11 Conflict of Interest of Directors with offices held in Competing Organizations.

No Director of KHNA shall hold an office of authority in a Competing Organization. If such a conflict of interest arises any time during the term of office, the Director should resign their membership in the Board of Directors and the position should be filled per 5.8. if a conflict arises and the director refuses to resign, the Board of Directors by a two-third majority vote can prevent him/her from participating in the proceedings of the Board until such a time (a) he/she is removed from the Board using procedures laid out in 5.10 or (b) he/she can establish to the satisfaction of the Board that the conflict of interest no longer exists.

5.12 Sub-Committees

The Board of Directors shall have the privilege to appoint subcommittees to complete any special task, which shall be very specific in nature. There shall be a Chairperson for such committee who shall be an elected member of the current BOD and proper records of such committee meetings should be submitted to the Board of Directors including the minutes. All sub-committees appointed by BOD shall be reporting to the Board of Directors. Sub-Committee shall submit a detailed budget for any projects involving finance before the Board of Directors for their approval.

5.13 **Term of Sub-Committee**

Any Sub-Committee appointed for a special task or project shall be automatically dissolved with the completion of the task/project or with the biennial election and the installation of the Board of Directors whichever comes first.

5.14 Standing Committee

The BOD shall appoint standing committees as needed. Each committee shall have a Chair or a Coordinator from the BOD. These standing committees are directly reporting to the BOD. The term of the standing committee shall be over at the next biennial election. Each standing committee shall prepare a two (2) year plan and prepare a budget to present in the BOD meeting for their approval. The BOD shall review the activities periodically and issue guidelines for each standing committee. The standing committees shall include but not limited to the following:

5.14.1 Yuva Forum

This standing committee is appointed to focus on the professional development of KHNA members in general by providing career guidance and advising for professional advancement.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 19 of 43

5.14.2 Women's Forum

This standing committee is appointed to focus on the affairs of the female members of KHNA. This committee is headed by women and shall have only women as members. The committee shall address issues faced by Hindu women and their children and organize activities for their wellbeing.

5.14.3 Seniors Forum

This committee is formed to address the issues faced by the senior members of KHNA who are above 65 years of age. Special focus shall be given for developing and maintaining a healthy retirement life.

5.14.4 Sewa Forum

Sewa committee shall conduct Sewa (charity services) in the local and international community. Committee shall focus and motivate the children and encourage them to participate in charity activities.

5.14.5 Finance & Audit Forum

This committee shall help the Treasurer and the Director Board in reviewing the finances and provide assistance with regards to financial monitoring, budgeting, planning and auditing.

5.14.6 Spiritual Forum

This committee shall comprise of a spiritual team that helps form and guide regional units in conducting *Bhajans* and Hindu gathering to promote the Hindu culture including but not limited to spiritual discourses.

5.14.7 Youth Forum

This committee shall conduct activities for youth members with a vision to explore ways and means of promoting youth development and engagement. The forum should promote innovative approaches and initiatives for advancing the Hindu youth development agenda at national and regional levels.

5.14.8 Advisory Board

This board is appointed from the past Presidents, and Board of Trustees to give proper advice on issues related to KHNA. On a periodic basis the board shall provide valuable guidance and ideas on long term projects. The board shall consist of five to seven members.

5.14.9 Health Forum

This committee is formed to address and provide advice on health matters to members of KHNA. Special focus shall be given for developing and maintaining a healthy lifestyle. It is recommended that the health forum is chaired by a medical doctor and is comprised of Allopathic doctors and nurses as well as Ayurvedic, Homeopathic, Yoga and Naturopathic practitioners. The Forum should have a liaison from the BOD as a coordinator. The purpose of the forum includes but is not limited to forming a network of Hindu medical practitioners in North America providing medical advice to KHNA member families and

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 20 of 43

Gopalan Nair (, w

Hindu organizations in the U.S. and providing medical advice/support to similar Hindu medical networks and organizations in Kerala.

5.14.10 Economic Forum

This committee is formed to develop a network of Hindu businesses and investors in North America that will be able to promote Hindu entrepreneurship. This forum should develop a directory of Hindu businesses which should serve as the foundation for gathering sponsorship support to KHNA Sponsorship/Fundraising Committees. The Economic Forum should also consider organizing Hindu Economic Summit(s) (could be along with biennial conventions) attracting prominent Hindu business professionals. This Forum should be chaired by a prominent Hindu business person in North America and shall have a BOD Member as the liaison/coordinator.

ARTICLE 6 (Officers)

6.1 Structure

The Officers of the organization shall be the President, Vice President, Secretary, Joint Secretary, Treasurer, and the Joint Treasurer who will constitute the Executive officers. The Executive officers shall meet as required and the minutes of the meeting shall be shared with the Board of Directors and Board of Trustees.

6.2 President

The President of the organization shall be the Head of the organization and shall preside at all meetings of the members and of the Board of Directors. The President shall perform all duties incident to the office of the President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the board. The Executive committee members shall not hold a similar title or position in any other Indian national organizations.

6.3 Vice President

In the absence of the President or in the event of the President's disability or refusal to act, the Vice President shall perform all duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of the President.

6.4 General Secretary

The General Secretary shall keep all records of the Kerala Hindus of North America and record minutes of the meetings of the members, and Board of Directors, give all notices in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws or as may be required by law; file all needed documents with the State as needed in a timely manner; keep a record of each member; transition records from one term to the other; and in general perform all duties incident to the Office of Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the Board. The minutes of all meetings shall be prepared and distributed to the members of the Board of Directors and Trustees within ten (10) days of such meetings.

6.5 **Joint Secretary**

Pillai Sun

Gopalan Nair 🗸 🔾

The Joint Secretary shall perform the duties of the General Secretary in the absence of the Secretary or in the event of the Secretary's disability or refusal to act and shall have the full powers of the Secretary in doing so. Also the Joint Secretary shall assist the Secretary in the discharge of the Secretary's responsibilities.

6.6 Treasurer

The Treasurer shall have charge and custody of all accounts of KHNA and be responsible for all funds and books of the organization; make all payments; receive and give receipts for money due and payable to the organization; and deposit all such money in the name of the organization in such banks or depositories as shall be selected by the Board of Directors or Board of Trustees as the case may be, for the money belonging to the accounts controlled by each of these boards; transition record of accounts from the previous Treasurer and transition record of accounts to the new Treasurer within forty-five (45) days after the installation of the new officers, and cosign with the transitioning Treasurer a letter of transition of accounts describing any discrepancies or actions pending; seek professional help from accountants as necessary and authorized by the Board of Directors or Board of Trustees from time to time; present information to the individual or company authorized by the Board of Trustees for preparing tax returns; and in general perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Treasurer by the Board of Directors or Board of Trustees. The treasurer shall keep the originals of all contracts signed on behalf of KHNA. The Treasurer shall prepare the Biennial financial report to be presented at the biennial GB. The treasurer shall be preparing a quarterly Income and Expense report to share those with the BOD and BOT within 21 days after each quarter.

6.6.1 Biennial Budget

Treasurer shall prepare a Biennial budget and present before the joint body of Board of Directors and Board of Trustees for approval within sixty (60) days after the handing over. The approved budget shall be presented in Interim General Body. This shall be for a review and information purpose and shall not seek any approval.

6.6.2 BOT Account

The Treasurer shall maintain the accounts of both the Trustee Board Endowment/Restricted and the operational account and will seek additional outside help if necessary.

6.7 Joint Treasurer

The Joint Treasurer shall assist the Treasurer in maintaining the books of accounts and any other activities as requested by the Treasurer and perform the duties of the Treasurer in his absence or in the event of the Treasurer's disability or refusal to act and shall have the full powers of the Treasurer in doing so.

6.8 Disability or Refusal to Act

CK Pillai

Gopalan Nair (w

The disability or refusal to act by any concerned officer has to be communicated to the Board of Trustees and upon advice by the Board of Trustees' majority decision; the officer second in line shall assume the functions as mentioned in Article 6.

6.9 Tenure and Qualification for the Officers

The term of the Officers shall coincide with the biennial election for their term as elected and shall conclude at the installation of new officers elected for the subsequent term.

The qualification of a candidate to hold any of the offices of the President, Vice-President, General Secretary, Joint Secretary, Treasurer or Joint Treasurer shall be:

- (i) A life member of Kerala Hindus of North America AND
- (ii) Have registered for and attended at least TWO of the most recent FOUR Biennial KHNA Conventions or have served at least one two-year term as a member of KHNA Board of Directors.

6.10 Conflict of Interest of Officers with offices held in Competing Organizations

No Officer of KHNA shall hold an office of authority in a Competing Organization. If such a conflict of interest arises any time during the term of office, the officer should resign from the office held in KHNA. If a conflict arises and the officer refuses to resign, the Board of Directors by a two-third majority vote can prevent him/her from acting in his/her official capacity until such a time (a) he/she is removed from the office using procedures laid out in 6.8 or (b) he/she can establish to the satisfaction of the Board that the conflict of interest no longer exists

ARTICLE 7 (Board of Trustees (BOT))

7.1 Structure

There shall be 15 (fifteen) members in the Board of Trustees for KHNA representing the various Geographical regions of North America and shall be responsible for:

- i. Formulation of long-term policies
- ii. Strategic planning
- iii. Supervision of endowment funds and its allocation
- iv. Administration of Election
- v. Membership list and membership fee Maintenance
- vi. Open and operate accounts for Endowment fund and membership fees
- vii. Fulfill Tax & Compliance matters
- viii. Administer and conduct the Handing over meeting
- ix. Administer the process of internal and external audit
- x. Seek appropriate legal assistance to initiate legal action on behalf of KHNA and defend any legal proceedings against KHNA
- xi. Call Special GB Meeting to approve any capital expenditure of more than \$50,000.00 (Fifty thousand US Dollars).
- xii. Resolve any questions or disputes on the eligibility of applicants for KHNA membership.

7.2 Budget

ni 🕽

Gopalan Nair

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Trustees shall along with the Board of Directors approve the biennial budget presented by the treasurer. All capital budgets for long term projects or any budget to acquire real estate assets with a onetime expense of more than 50,000 (fifty thousand) US Dollars must be presented before the Interim General Body or any other special GB called by the BOT for that purpose.

7.3 Advisory Capacity

The Board of Trustees shall not interfere in the day-to-day affairs of KHNA. The Trustees shall be responsible for advising the Board of Directors in managing the funds and controlling the budgets and shall advise on organizational matters. Trustees shall have the right to seek legal consultation and if required to appoint legal counsel.

7.4 Board Secretary

The Board of Trustees shall have a Secretary to manage the day-to-day affairs and record keeping of the Board of Trustees who shall also be taking meeting notes. On behalf of the Trustees, the Secretary shall keep a copy of all minutes of the Board of Directors and a copy of all contracts initiated and entered into by KHNA.

7.5 Composition

The Board of Trustees shall elect a Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Secretary from the Board of Trustees in Trustee Board Handing over meeting.

The Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Secretary should have:

- i. Served KHNA Board of Trustees at least for two years, and
- ii. Served at least one term in the Executive committee of KHNA.

Ex-Officio Members of the Board of Trustees:

The President, Secretary, and Treasurer of KHNA shall be non-voting Ex-Officio members of the Trustee Board.

7.6 Meetings

- a) The Chairperson shall preside and conduct all meetings of the Board of Trustees and in his/her absence; the Vice Chairperson shall assume the powers of the Chairperson to function as the Chairperson.
- b) The minutes of all BOT meetings shall be prepared and distributed to the members of the Board of Directors and Trustees by the Secretary within two weeks of such meetings.

7.7 Attend BOD Meetings

The Chairperson and/or the Vice Chairperson of the Board of Trustees shall attend the Board of Directors meeting with no voting rights.

7.8 Meeting Frequency

The Board of Trustees shall meet at least five (5) times in a year. All members, including the ex-officio members shall be invited to all the meetings of the Board of Trustees.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

ruge 24 0j 43

Pillai

7.9 Tenure and Qualification

The term of Trustees shall coincide with the biennial election for their term as elected and shall conclude at the installation of the new Trustees elected for the subsequent term.

Qualification of a candidate for the Board of Trustee shall be:

- (i) A Life member of KHNA, or a member of an Institutional member of KHNA AND
- (ii) Must meet one of the following three categories.
 - 1) Must have served at least one term as a member of the Executive Committee OR
 - 2) Must have served in the BOT before OR
 - 3) Must have served as a BOD member for four years.

No Trustees shall serve more than 4 (four) years consecutively without taking a break for two (2) years. Trustees who have served KHNA continuously for four years shall be eligible for re-election after two (2) years.

7.10 Vacancies

Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Trustees shall be filled by a majority decision by the Board of Trustees for the unexpired term until the next biennial election.

7.11 Unexcused Absences

If any member of the Board of Trustees fails to attend three consecutive meetings, he/she shall be removed from the Board of Trustees after giving due notice, and if proper explanation is not received within 15 days from the receipt of the notice, the vacancy shall be filled as allowed under 7.10.

7.12 Conflict of Interest of Trustees with offices held in Competing Organizations.

No Trustee of KHNA shall hold an office of authority in a Competing Organization. If such a conflict of interest arises any time during the term of office, the Trustee should resign their membership in the Board of Trustees and the position should be filled as specified in 7.11. if a conflict arises and the Trustee refuses to resign, the Board of Trustees by a two-third majority vote can prevent him/her from participating in the proceedings of the Board until such a time (a) he/she is removed from the Board using procedures laid out in 5.10 or (b) he/she can establish to the satisfaction of the Board that the conflict of interest no longer exists.

7.13 Sub-Committees

The Board of Trustees shall have the privilege to appoint subcommittees to complete any special task, which shall be very specific in nature to the BOT. There shall be a Chairperson for such committee who shall be a member of the Trustee Board, and proper records of such committee meetings should be submitted to the Board of Trustees including the minutes. All BOT appointed sub-committees shall be reporting to the Board of Trustees. The subcommittee shall submit a detailed budget for any

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Gopalan Nair ()

Page 25 of 43

projects involving finance before the Board of Trustees for their approval, if appointed by BOT.

7.14 Term of a Sub-Committee

Any Sub-Committee appointed for a special task or project by the BOT shall be automatically dissolved with the completion of the task/project or with the biennial election and the installation of the Board of Trustees whichever comes first.

7.15 Continuing Programs

The Trustee Board shall maintain an approved list of KHNA continuing programs with clearly specified activities, that do not conflict with TB responsibilities under 7.3. Any addition, deletion, or changes of programs in the approved list may be made by the Board of Trustees in one of its scheduled meetings, with approval of two thirds of the members present. The Secretary of the Trustee Board shall keep the General Secretary informed of these changes within 30 days.

ARTICLE 8 (Judicial Council)

8.1 **Iudicial Council**

The General Body shall elect three (03) members of KHNA, who shall not be members of the current Director Board or Trustee Board to serve as members of Judicial Council. Before initiating any legal proceedings against KHNA regarding any dispute, it must first be brought before the Judicial Council for an amicable resolution.

8.2. **Oualifications and Term**

Members of the Judicial Council should have served the organization as

- (a) President who has served at least one full term (04 years) on Board of Trustees OR
- (b) Trustee Board Chairman who has served at least one full term (02 years) as the President, Vice President, General Secretary, Joint Secretary, Treasurer or Joint Treasurer.

OR

Trustee Board Members who have served at least one full term (04 years) and served at least one term (02 years) as the President, Vice President, General Secretary, Joint Secretary, Treasurer or Joint Treasurer.

(d) Trustee Board Members who have previously served at least two full terms (08 years)

The term of the Judicial Council shall be four (04) years, shall coincide with the biennial election for their term as elected and shall conclude at the installation of new officers elected for the subsequent term. For each term, the first meeting of the elected Judicial Council shall be convened within two weeks of each biennial election and presided over by the President of KHNA. The Chairperson shall be elected from this council at the first meeting. The President shall not have voting rights.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 26 of 43
Gopalan Nair (√ √

8.3 Duties

In the event of a dispute among members of KHNA about the results of any election conducted by the General Body pursuant to these Constitution and Bylaws, or a dispute among members of KHNA about any action taken by the Director Board or Trustee Board which cannot be resolved by that body acting under the Constitution and Bylaws by majority vote of such body a quorum being present, such dispute shall be referred to the Judicial Council for resolution.

- a. All written complaints shall be acknowledged within seven (07) days.
- b. The Judicial Council has the authority to intervene in any crisis of the organization only upon receipt of a request for intervention.
- c. The Judicial Council shall have the authority to adopt its own rules of procedures for the resolution of disputes, subject to the provisions of the Constitution and Bylaws.
- d. The council shall undertake investigations, if allegations are made that warrant such investigation and shall have the authority to seek the help of private agencies in conducting such investigations.
- e. Any intentional act of individuals to damage the reputation of the organization or its current or past officials shall be investigated and acted upon by the Judicial Council and appropriate disciplinary actions shall be taken; and it shall have the authority to commence legal proceedings against the parties causing such damage.
- f. The Judicial Council shall remain an independent entity; and shall report its decisions to the Director Board, Trustee Board and the General Body.

8.4 Meeting

The Judicial Council shall meet at least once in Six (06) months and as often as required at the discretion of the Chairperson.

8.5 Notice

The Judicial Council maybe called into session with ateleast two (02) days' notice by telephone/email.

8.6 Quorum

The quorum for any meeting of the Judicial Council shall be two out of three (02/03).

8.7 Voting

Decision of the Judicial Council to initiate disciplinary action shall require two out of three votes (02/03).

8.8 Interference

No interference is allowed from anyone regarding the disputes under the council that are awaiting resolution. Any Judicial Council Committee member shall respect and comply with the bylaw and shall act at all times in a manner that promotes confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the goodwill. A Judicial Council Committee member shall not make statements, whether public or nonpublic, that commit the person with

Suresh Nair 5%

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Gopalan Nair (, w

respect to cases, controversies, or issues that are likely to come before the office or that are inconsistent with the impartial performance of the adjudicative duties of their office.

8.9 **Campaigns**

Judicial council committee members cannot participate in, support, or promote any KHNA election campaigns, meetings and debates etc.

8.10 Enforcement

The recommendations of the Judicial Council with respect to any dispute shall be binding on KHNA and on all its members after ratification by the BOT and BOD by twothird of the members present and voting at EACH of the boards called for this purpose. . However, in the event there is disagreement regarding the decision of the Judicial Council the affected party/parties shall have the right to appeal to the General Body which shall discuss the matter in its next regularly scheduled meeting; and the decision of the General Body shall be final. If the decision of the council involves disciplining an elected official of KHNA, procedures of 5.10 shall be followed.

ARTICLE 9 (Contracts, Checks, Deposits, Books & Records)

9.1 **Contracts**

a) Authorize Power

The Board of Directors through a special resolution shall authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of KHNA to negotiate the terms of a contract within the best interest of KHNA as directed by the resolution.

b) Signing Contract

All contracts negotiated by the officers or authorized agents on behalf of KHNA must be signed by the President and anyone (1) of the following two (2) officers:

- (i) Secretary
- Treasurer (ii)

c) Custody of signed Contracts

KHNA Secretary or Treasurer must give a copy of any signed contract to the BOT Chair for proper records.

9.1.1 Checks and Drafts

a) Written by BOD

All checks, drafts or other instruments for the payment of money, notes, or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of KHNA shall be signed by the Treasurer. Transactions of USD 1000.00 (One thousand) or above shall be approved, through a resolution of the BOD and shall be signed by the Treasurer and countersigned by the President. The President, being the executive head of

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 28 of 43

the organization shall also have the authority to operate the accounts in unavoidable circumstances.

b) Written by BOT

All checks, drafts or other instruments for the payment of money, notes, or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of KHNA shall be signed by the Treasurer. Transactions of USD 1000.00 (One thousand) or above shall be approved through a resolution of the BOT and shall be signed by the Treasurer and countersigned by BOT Chair. Under unavoidable circumstances BOT Chair shall also have the authority to operate the accounts.

9.1.2 Expense Reimbursement

- a) All expenses in the amount of more than USD 1000.00 (One thousand) must be pre-authorized by the President, Secretary or Treasurer. All expense reimbursement requires a voucher form with a receipt attached as the proof of expenditure.
- b) All expenses shall only be reimbursed using checks. Cash reimbursements are not allowed.
- c) All checks issued by KHNA, for any amount of USD 1000.00 (One thousand) or above, must have two signatures. Treasurer's or Jt. Treasurer's signature shall be mandatory on every check. Treasurer shall always have the custody of all bank checks and must not give any signed or blank checks to anyone including the officers of KHNA.
- d) Any expenses in the amount of \$50.00 (fifty) USD or more spent by the President, Secretary or Treasurer shall be authorized by another officer of KHNA other than the person spending the money.

9.2 Deposits

9.2.1 General Funds

All funds collected on behalf of KHNA either in cash, checks, credit cards or any other approved methods except as in 9.2.2 shall be deposited within two weeks of the receipt of the funds to the credit of KHNA in its name and Tax ID number in such banks as the Board of Directors or Board of Trustees may select and decide through a resolution.

9.2.2 Membership Fee and Endowment Fund

All funds collected as membership fees and endowment contributions shall be the responsibility of the Board of Trustees and shall deposit in such bank authorized by the BOT. Funds shall be deposited within two weeks.

a) The treasurer shall reconcile the biennial membership fees of fully paid registrants for the biennial convention on a fortnightly basis and shall immediately transfer that amount to the endowment account of the Board of Trustees.

9.2.3 Restricted Funds

25 November 2023 Page 29 of 43

Suresh Nair 54 Gopalan Nair 4

The Trustee Board accounts shall be called Restricted Funds. The Board of Trustees shall maintain two separate bank accounts. The Membership fees and any endowments received shall be maintained in the Endowments account. The funds raised towards the KHNA Scholarships and other BOT- approved programs shall be maintained in the BOT Operational account.

9.2.4 Transfer of Funds

Funds shall not be withdrawn or transferred from the Board of Trustees' Endowment account without a resolution adopted by the simple majority of the General Body. The KHNA Trustee Board is exempted from this restriction of fund withdrawal to disburse seed funds as permitted by 10.11.

9.2.5 Accounts

The Treasurer should have access to all bank accounts opened by KHNA including the Restricted Funds accounts and Operational account and will seek additional outside help if necessary.

9.3 Gifts

The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of the corporation, any contribution, gift, bequest, or device for the general purpose or for any special purpose of KHNA.

9.4 Official Records and Seal

9.4.1 Corporate Assets & Records

The Board of Trustees shall be the custodian of all assets and properties of KHNA including the corporate seal. BOT shall keep complete books and records of accounts including the used and unused receipt books handed over by the outgoing BOD and BOT. BOT shall also keep minutes of the proceedings of its members, Board of Directors and Board of Trustees, and shall keep at the registered principal office or at a convenient place authorized by the Board of Trustees.

9.4.2 Membership List

BOT shall have the custody of original membership applications with the copy of the proof of payment and maintain an accurate list of active members with details but not limited to their names, telephone numbers, email address and physical addresses of the members. BOT shall also maintain a voters list of members entitled to vote. Ownership & Hosting of the website will be the responsibility of the Board of Trustees. Ongoing operational maintenance will be the responsibility of the Board of Directors.

9.5 Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the first day of January and end on the last day in December in each year.

9.6 Handing Over

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Gopalan Nair 🗸 👊

Page 30 of 43

A handing over meeting shall be convened for the installation of the newly elected Board of Directors, Board of Trustees, and the Officers of KHNA, as well as the formal transfer of official records and financial data to the new administration.

9.6.1 Transition Period

The time between the KHNA Biennial General Body meeting electing the new office bearers of KHNA to the formal handing over meeting shall be treated as the transition period during which KHNA would continue to be administered by the outgoing team, and the Officers, Board of Directors and Board of Trustees shall support the newly elected officers prepare themselves to transition to the official roles. To enable the incoming KHNA Administrative team to be ready with the updated websites, The BOT Chair shall issue a developer password of the KHNA website to the nominee of the President-Elect at least 30 days prior to the Handing Over meeting.

9.6.2 Handing over meeting date

The handing over event shall be held on the third Saturday of the second calendar month following the Biennial Elections at a place chosen by the President-elect. If the handing over meeting could not be held on this date, an alternative date, time, and place can be decided by a simple majority vote of the Board of Trustees that is agreeable to both the outgoing KHNA President as well as the President-elect.

9.6.3 Handing over meeting notice

Notice of the Handing over meeting along with the agenda shall be sent to all the newly elected officials of KHNA as well as the Members of the BOD and BOT at least 15 days prior to the scheduled date by the Secretary of the Board of Trustees.

9.6.4 Handing over meeting agenda

The Chair of the Board of Trustees or in his/her absence the Vice-Chair shall preside over the handing over meeting. The agenda for the meeting shall include, but not limited to:

- i. Swearing in of the newly elected Officers, Directors, and Trustees.
- ii. Orientation session conducted by the outgoing Trustee Board Chair and Secretary for the newly elected KHNA officials, focusing on the operational procedures in the bylaws, the records being transferred, and the continuing mission, programs and projects of KHNA.
- iii. The handing over of:
 - a) KHNA corporate records from outgoing President to the President
 - b) KHNA records (including the current membership database and email list) from outgoing General Secretary to the General Secretary
 - c) KHNA Financial records from outgoing Treasurer to Treasurer, along with a signed transition record of accounts describing any discrepancies or actions pending to be addressed by the Treasurer as described in 6.6.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 31 of 43

- d) Current KHNA Bylaws with updates, if any, made at the last biennial General Body from the outgoing General Secretary to the General Secretary
- e) Documentation of the completion of the transfer of the Trustee Board bank accounts from the outgoing Treasurer to Treasurer
- iv. Election of the BOT Chair, Vice Chair and Secretary in a separate meeting of the members of the newly constituted BOT according to 11.5. and handing over of the Full KHNA Scholarship database, including the scholarship candidates' full contact information and payment details from the outgoing TB Chair to TB Chair

9.6.5 KHNA Official Records transfer

The past KHNA governing team and the Board of Trustees shall ensure that all the records belonging to the KHNA shall be passed on to the new administrative team. These include but not limited to,

- a) Ownership and Admin password of KHNA Cloud Database account to the new KHNA BOT Chair
- b) Ownership and Admin password to the KHNA Website to the new BOT Chair.
- d) All the correspondence by the Executive team on behalf of KHNA properly archived in the KHNA Cloud database
- e) All Notices and minutes of the meetings of the Executive Committee, Board of Trustees and the Board of Directors, archived on the KHNA Cloud database.

9.6.6 KHNA Website

The KHNA Website is the face of KHNA as well as the location of for archival of most of KHNA's past activities and history. The Board of Trustees as the body maintaining the continuity of KHNA shall have the ownership and control of the websites. The BOT shall grant developer authority/password to the Executive committee or an authorized representative to manage the website content relating to the current biennial period activities and reserve the authority to alter any of the archival information to BOT.

ARTICLE 10 (Financial Records and Annual Procedure)

10.1 Financial Records

The corporation shall maintain true and accurate financial records with full and correct entries made with respect to all financial transactions, including all cash receipts and cash disbursements, in accordance with generally accepted accounting procedures. The above accounts shall be kept in accordance with requirements of the of Internal Revenue code section 501 (c) (3) organization. All required tax and information returns must be filed in a timely manner stated in the above IRS section. Financial and all other records must be kept for a minimum of seven (7) years or for a period consistent with IRS regulations whichever is greater. The corporation must not engage in any activity outside the scope of 501 (c) (3) of Internal Revenue code.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 32 of 43
Gopalan Nair ∫, ພ

10.2 KHNA Reports

10.2.1 Biennial Operational Report

The Secretary shall prepare and present an operational written report to be presented in the Interim General Body and a biennial report to be presented in the Biennial General Body.

10.2.2 Biennial Financial Report

The Treasurer shall prepare a combined report of the financial activity of KHNA including the BOT account for the preceding two years and present in the biennial GB. This report shall conform to accounting standards as promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

10.3 Public Inspection

All financial records, books, and annual reports of the financial activity of the corporation shall be kept at the registered office or principal office as approved by the BOT of the corporation in the state the corporation is registered for a period consistent with the IRS requirements or any other laws and shall be available to members for inspection by appointment. Any member or his/her attorney may inspect all books and records of the corporation for any purpose at a mutually acceptable time and place. The corporation may charge for reasonable expenses incurred for such inspection(s).

10.4 Audit and Books

Auditing of books and records shall be responsibilities of the Trustees.

10.5 **Audit Committee**

The General Body shall appoint an audit committee of three (3) members from the members present in the General body to inspect and review the books of KHNA. The members of the Audit Committee shall be individuals who have a good understanding of the Constitution and finance and shall have served a term of 4 years in BOD or BOT combined. Such auditors appointed shall not be the members of the current Board of Directors or Trustees. The audit committee shall:

- a) Conduct reviews more frequently during the last three months before the convention date so that a close observation can be ensured to the accuracy and compliance of financial matters.
- b) Review the accounts as frequently as needed and shall present their report to the Board of Trustees and Board of Directors, emphasizing any discrepancies such as variations from the budget, deviations from the policies and non-compliance to the constitution.
- c) Examine all the books and reports and submit the audited accounts to the Board of Trustees at least three weeks before the Handing over meeting. The Board of Trustees and Board of Directors shall review and approve the audited report before the Treasurer presents the biennial financial report in the handover meeting. The Board of Trustees shall note all findings of internal audit committee for improvement.

10.6 Audits by Certified Public Accountant

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

KHNA shall audit the books by an independent certified public accountant or equivalent appointed by the Board of Trustees and audit shall be completed within three months of the convention. Any reasonable expense for the external audit shall be paid from the BOT account. The Board of Trustees shall take the responsibility to file tax returns and comply with the IRS regulations.

10.7 Revenue over Expense

- a) Fifty (50) percent of the revenue over the expense, if any, shall be transferred to the Endowment Fund account supervised by the Board of Trustees and the transfer shall be completed within three months of the convention.
- b) The other/remaining fifty percent (50%) shall be distributed among the Institutional member(s) of the Convention hosting State, based on the ratio of the registration revenue and sponsorship revenue brought by each institutional member organization for the KHNA convention, who were active members of KHNA for four (4) consecutive years before the convention date.

10.8 Close PO Box and Bank Accounts

All Bank accounts and Post Boxes opened by the Board of Directors shall be closed as per the direction of the BOT and the evidence of closing accounts shall be handed over to the Board of Trustees.

10.9 Assets

Any movable/immovable properties procured or transacted should be done on behalf of and for the Kerala Hindus of North America. The signatories for transactions are to be President, Treasurer, Secretary and the Chairperson of the Board of Trustees of Kerala Hindus of North America.

10.10 Remuneration

An officer or Director shall receive no remuneration for his/her service and time spent for organizing the Convention but shall be entitled to reimbursement as follows:

- a) The President, Secretary and Treasurer are eligible for, airfare or rental car expense incurred by him/her for reasonable travels made within North America to organize the convention. All other expenses to attend the meetings shall be considered voluntary and shall not be reimbursed.
- b) Any other expense on individual basis incurred in carrying out special assignments with prior understanding and approval of the Board of Directors.
- c) The Treasurer shall include the reasonable expense as mentioned in 10.10.a) in the Biennial budget and must be approved by the joint body of BOD and BOT.
- d) President, Secretary and Treasurer must take extreme caution in expensing this fund and must have a pre-approval from the Executive committee before making the travel for each occurrence.

10.11 Seed Money for New Convention

During the handover meeting presided by the Board of Trustees, the BOT shall approve up to USD 10,000.00 as seed money to the New Convention Committee as follows:

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 34 of 43

Suresh Nair *SN*

- i. The maximum amount for the seed money shall be ten thousand (10,000) US dollars.
- ii. The seed money must be returned to the Board of Trustees before sixty (60) days of the Convention.
- iii. The President, Secretary and Treasurer shall be responsible for returning the seed money and they shall execute an agreement signed by all three of them promising the Board of Trustees to return the funds before sixty (60) days of the convention.

ARTICLE 11 (Elections)

11.1 Election Committee

The Board of Trustees shall appoint a three-person committee consisting of two members and an Election Commissioner for conducting the election. The appointment shall be announced before four months of the actual election date for conducting the biennial election of KHNA. The Election Commissioner shall function independent of the Board of Trustees and Board of Directors. The Election Commissioner in addition to the two members can nominate volunteers of their choice to help him in the election process, if secret balloting is required. The Board chair, Vice Chair and members of the Executive Committee shall not be a member of the Election committee. The election committee members must neither be biased nor contest for any position in KHNA and must hold the KHNA bylaw as the basis for all their decisions.

11.1.1 Nomination

The Election commissioner shall invite nominations in the prescribed form approved by the BOT before seventy-five (75) days of the election date. The nomination must not contradict the bylaw. In the event of not having eligible nominations, the Election Commissioner shall call for nominations from the floor at the Biennial GB Meeting.

11.1.2 Nomination Submission

Any candidate submitting nomination to any of the elected positions of KHNA shall have fully met the candidate eligibility criteria described in article 11.1.3 at least 90 days before the start date of the upcoming KHNA convention.

11.1.3 Candidate Eligibility

Any individual who meets the membership eligibility criteria of 3.2.4, have previously registered and participated in at least one KHNA Biennial Convention, and have registered and paid in full for the upcoming KHNA convention at least 90 days before the start of the convention, shall be eligible to submit the nomination for membership to the Board of Directors. Additionally:

- a) candidates for membership of the executive committee shall also meet the qualifications in 6.9,
- b) candidates for membership in the Board of Trustees shall also meet the qualifications in 7.9 and
- c) candidates for membership in the Judicial Council shall also meet the qualifications of 8.2.

K Pillai Suresh Nair 5%

Gopalan Nair L

11.1.4 Election Schedule

The Election commissioner shall receive all completed nomination forms, fortyfive (45) days prior to the election date. Nominations received after the due date shall not be considered for the election. Candidates shall withdraw their name from the race before three (3) weeks of the election date through a written request. The final voters list must be published on the KHNA website for the benefit of the KHNA members before two (2) weeks of the proposed election.

11.2 Voters List

The Election Commissioner shall announce the list of candidates and mail a copy along with the current membership list (Voters List) of KHNA to all candidates running for election two (2) weeks prior to the biennial election. The Board of Trustees shall provide the final voters list of Biennial Members and Life Members according to 3.7.1, at least six (6) weeks prior to the election to the Election Commissioner. The Election Commissioner, before the distribution of the voters list, shall verify the same by checking against the KHNA records.

11.3 Election Process

In the event of more than one candidate running for one position, the election shall be held by secret ballot. No proxy vote or postal or email vote shall be allowed or counted for the election. The election commissioner shall prepare the guidelines of the election and shall mail the guidelines to all voters, contesting candidates, Board of Directors and Board of Trustees before two weeks of the election. If there is a tie for any position, the winner shall be announced by drawing a lot. A government issued document shall be used to identify the members at the election.

11.4 Announcing Result

The Election Commissioner shall announce the final results of the election. The Board of Trustees Chairman shall be responsible for conducting the oath ceremony.

11.5 Election of BOT Chair, Vice Chair & Secretary

The outgoing BOT Chair shall call a meeting of the newly elected BOT members at the handing over meeting and elect a Chair, Vice Chair and Secretary through secret ballot. The newly elected Chair, Vice Chair and Secretary shall take positions immediately after the handing over meeting and work with the outgoing Chair, Vice Chair and Secretary. The Board of Trustees sshall continue until the handing over and the new Board of Trustees shall take office at that time.

11.6 Election Expense

All reasonable expenses incurred for conducting the election must be preauthorized by the BOT and shall be reimbursed to the Election Commissioner by the Treasurer from the membership fees collected from the convention registrants. The balance of the collected membership fees shall be deposited in the Restricted/Endowment Account of the Board of Trustees within two weeks of the conclusion of the biennial convention.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

ARTICLE 12 (General Provisions)

12.1 Amendments to the Bylaws

12.1.1 By Members

Members in good standing shall propose amendments in writing and submit to the KHNA Secretary. Secretary shall present the proposed changes in the next Board of Directors meeting.

12.1.2 Committee

GB and/or BOT shall upon majority vote appoint a constitution amendment committee to study the constitution and propose amendments in writing. All proposed amendments shall be sent to the Secretary for proper follow up.

12.1.3 Amendment Process

These bylaws may be amended by the General Body at any meeting provided notice of the proposed amendment has been mailed to all members no later than forty-five (45) days prior to such meeting. The amendments must first be discussed in the Board of Directors and then in the Board of Trustees before sending the notice to the General Body. No such amendment shall be contrary to the provision set forth in Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Service Code of 1954.

12.1.4 Two-Third Required

An affirmative vote of a two-thirds majority of the voting members present at such meeting of the members shall constitute an acceptance of the proposed amendment.

12.1.5 Effective Date

The approved amendment shall be implemented immediately unless a specified date of implementation is voted upon before the vote is taken to approve the amendment.

12.1.6 Resolutions by the General Body

All resolutions submitted for consideration by any General Body meeting of KHNA shall be treated as a bylaw amendment for the purposes of article 12.1, and shall follow all the procedures described in 12.1.1, 12.1.2, 12.1.3, 12.1.4 and 12.1.5.

12.1.7 Supremacy of the Bylaws

The articles detailed in this document shall be treated as the supreme laws of KHNA, superseded only by the laws of the land. Any resolutions or amendments considered or passed by any KHNA General Body meetings without following the processes outlined in 12.1.2 and 12.1.3 and conflicting with any of the articles of this document are non-enforceable and considered null and void.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Gopalan Nair 🛴 😃

12.2 Regional Conventions

All regional conventions have to be organized through regional institutional organizations who are current Institutional members of KHNA. All financial activities of this convention has to be conducted through a separate account opened and operated by the sponsoring organization official and KHNA Treasurer or joint treasurer and monitored by representatives from regional institutional organizations and KHNA BOD.

12.3 Rules of Order

The rules of procedure contained in 'Robert's Rules of Order Revised' shall be used in the conduct of business of the organization in all cases which are not covered by these bylaws, or other special rules adopted by the organization.

12.4 Dissolution

Upon the dissolution of the corporation, the Board of Trustees shall, after paying or making provisions for the payment of all of the liabilities of the corporation, dispose of all of the assets of the corporation exclusively for the purpose of the corporation in such manner, or to such organization or organizations organized and operated exclusively for charitable, educational, religious or scientific purposes as shall at the time qualify as an exempt organization under Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as the Board of Trustees shall determine. Any such assets not disposed of shall be disposed of by the Court of common Pleas of the County in which the principal office of the organization is located, exclusively for such purposes or to such organization or organizations, as said Court shall determine which are organized and operated for such purposes.

13.0 Abbreviations and Terms Used

For the interpretation of this constitution, following terms mean as detailed:

- **BOD** Board of Directors
- **BOT** Board of Trustees
- **Competing Organizations** A United States national or continent-wide Hindu Malayalee organization, which is like KHNA, that has as part of its membership a broader multiple community Malayalee Hindus and addresses the same or similar Malayalee Hindu database as KHNA's. This definition does not include the state/local/ community level Malayalee Hindu organizations, institutional member organization of KHNA, temples, or national or continent-wide single Hindu Malayali community organizations like NSS, Sree Narayana organizations etc.
- **Ex-Officio membership** in BOT and BOD refers to members of these bodies, who participate in the deliberations "by virtue of their holding the specific official positions, and not on their individual right." These members are considered full members of these bodies, even though this bylaw limits the voting rights of these bodies to the elected and nominated members and excluding the ex-officio members.
- **GB** General Body
- Good Standing An individual is in good standing if they have no financial dues of any sort with KHNA. A member/organization in good standing is regarded as having

Page 38 of 43 Suresh Nair 5%

- complied with all their explicit obligations, while not being subject to any form of sanctions, suspension or disciplinary actions.
- **North America** Includes all countries coming under the Geographical region of North America including Canada and Mexico.
- **Sewa Charity Services**. The exempt purposes set forth in section 501(c)(3) are charitable, religious, educational, scientific, literary, testing for public safety, fostering national or international amateur sports competition, and preventing cruelty to children or animals. The term "charitable" is used in its generally accepted legal sense and includes relief of the poor, the distressed, or the underprivileged; advancement of religion; advancement of education or science; erecting or maintaining public buildings, monuments, or works; lessening the burdens of government; lessening neighborhood tensions; eliminating prejudice and discrimination; defending human and civil rights secured by law; and combating community deterioration and juvenile delinquency.
- **Yuva** A forum for providing career guidance and advising for professional advancement.
- Geographical Regions

Following are the geographical regions recognized under this constitution:

- 1. Tristate NJ, PA, DE
- 2. Southeast FL, GA, AL, MS
- 3. DC Region DC, MD, VA, WV
- 4. Great Lakes OH, MI, East Canada
- 5. Midwest IL, MN, IA, IN, NB, KS, MO, WI
- 6. Southwest CA, AZ, UT, CO, NV, NM
- 7. Lone Star TX, OK, LA
- 8. Empire State NY, CT
- 9. Northwest OR, WA, ID, MT, WY, AK, ND, SD, West Canada
- 10. Northeast MA, NH, RI, ME, VT
- 11. South Central TN, NC, SC, AR, KY
- 12. Other Regions HI, Mexico, Caribbeans

other unspecified Regions could be reorganized as and when needed by a simple majority of the General Body.

KHNA General Body unanimously approved the amendments to the KHNA Bylaws and resolved that the new changes shall be effective as of 25 November 2023.

GK Pillai/TX President, KHNA

2021-2023

Suresh Nair/MN General Secretary, KHNA

2021-2023

Suresh R Nair

Gopalan Nair/AZ Chair, Bylaw Committee

2021-2023

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 39 of 43

GK Pillai

Suresh Nair 5%

Gopalan Nair (w

RESOLUTIONS

Resolutions approved on July 1, 2017

1. Out of the 15 (fifteen) Board of Trustee members 8 (eight) shall be elected for a period of 4 (four) years and 7 (seven) shall be elected for a period of 2 (two) years and there after according to the open vacancies.

Resolutions approved on August 7, 2021

2. Authorized the President of KHNA to register and launch KHNA Cultural and Educational Foundation such that: 1. The corporate organization and the bylaws of KHNA Cultural and Educational Foundation be reviewed and ratified by the KHNA Board of Directors and Board of Trustees, and 2. The members of the working committee of the foundation shall be nominated by the KHNA Board of Directors.

Resolutions approved on December 31, 2021

- 3. Authorized the Presiding officer of the General Body meeting to initiate actions against three (3) Trustee Board Members who were seen as engaging in activities that constitute conflict of interest. The General Body unanimously approved suspending the three Trustee Board members for the remainder of their term until further investigation and authorized the Presiding Officer to issue a notice to them notifying of this General Body action.
- 4. Authorized the Presiding Officer of the General Body meeting to issue a notice sanctioning the Trustee Board Chair and Vice Chair to provide the Trustee Board account access or reports to KHNA Treasurer. Their denial of access to both the operational and the endowment bank accounts of the Trustee Board to KHNA Treasurer even after his repeated requests and communication is seen as a violation of KHNA Bylaws Article 8.2.5, and dereliction of their duties as Trustee Board Chairman and Vice Chairman, respectively.
- 5. Resolution to nullify a previous resolution "to conduct election before the convention". This resolution was unanimously approved.
- 6. Resolution for naming of convention venue as Swami Sathyananda Saraswathi Nagar by Sri Viswanathan Pillai was approved.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

GK Pillai

Suresh Nair 5%

Gopalan Nair

20231125-R1: Resolution adopted by the Biennial General Body on November 25, 2023

WHEREAS members of Kerala Hindus of North America are interested in continuing to support organizations of Malayalee Hindus in North America as affiliated institutions and even as complementary organizations to support the community, and

WHEREAS some long-time members and former officials of KHNA had left KHNA in 2021 to launch a new organization with acronym MANTRAH, and

WHEREAS KHNA leadership in 2021 initially felt that the new organization can be a complementing organization to support the Malayalee Hindus of North America, and initially even gave logistical support, and

WHEREAS some of the initial leaders of this organization were also former KHNA officials who had been disciplined by the 2021 Biennial General Body of KHNA for actions unbecoming of the official positions held in KHNA, and

WHEREAS it has been observed over the past nearly two years of its existence that the members and leaders of this organizations had been actively pursuing anti-KHNA activities and misinformation through social media and other communications, even after several personal requests to cease and desist from such activities, and

WHEREAS the current Bylaws of KHNA even permits the former KHNA members who are active members of this organization to register for KHNA Biennial convention and seek and win elected positions in KHNA, even while being anti-KHNA, unless specifically prohibited by KHNA General Body,

IT IS THEREFORE RESOLVED to prohibit former KHNA office bearers who held official positions in Competing Organizations (per 13.0 of KHNA bylaws) from holding any trustee, director, or judicial council positions in KHNA, and that any prohibition can be revoked only after review and approval by both the KHNA Trustee Board and the Director Board.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 41 of 43

Suresh Nair Sh Gopalan Nair L

20231125-R2: Resolution adopted by the Biennial General Body on November 25, 2023

WHEREAS Kerala Hindus of North America (KHNA) has undertaken numerous impactful initiatives aimed at nurturing cultural, spiritual, and community development;

WHEREAS these initiatives have played a pivotal role in fostering unity, empowerment, and community support among the KHNA members;

WHEREAS it is crucial to ensure the continuity and effectiveness of these initiatives for future KHNA administrations;

WHEREAS the Trustee Board is well-suited to provide oversight and guidance for these initiatives, maximizing their impact and sustainability;

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that we, the undersigned members of the KHNA General Body, approve:

- 1. The following initiatives, specifically Mythali Ma, H-Core Mentoring Platform, Swasthi Samithi Committee, Mangalyasuthram Program, Temple Board, Helpline number, and Thaali Initiative, shall be continued in the upcoming KHNA Biennial term.
- 2. These initiatives shall be placed under the purview of appropriate standing committees within the Board of Directors, with guidance and counsel from the Trustee Board.
- 3. The Trustee Board shall exercise oversight to provide support and direction to the Standing Committees in achieving the objectives of these initiatives.
- 4. The KHNA General Body recognizes the significance of these initiatives in preserving our cultural heritage and enhancing community well-being. We hereby instruct the Trustee Board to establish and maintain a roster of enduring programs, including these popular initiatives.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

GK Pillai

Suresh Nair Sh

Gopalan Nair

WHEREAS KHNA (Kerala Hindus of North America) is steadfastly dedicated to upholding Sanathana values and nurturing family associations;

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by KHNA General Body that:

- 1. Every individual attaining a position on the KHNA board or assuming trusteeship shall take proactive measures to convene and engage a minimum of 5 Hindu families within their respective cities or adjacent cities during their term, organizing a Hindu family gathering. They are strongly encouraged to host gatherings and events, inviting other officials, with the primary aim of propagating Sanathana values and strengthening family bonds within our community. This proactive engagement shall serve to cultivate our cultural heritage and foster stronger connections among KHNA members situated across diverse locations.
- 2. The KHNA General Body hereby acknowledges its authority within the organization. It holds the power to amend or revise any clauses within the organization's governing documents, ensuring alignment with the long-term visions and principles of Sanathana Dharma. This vital prerogative guarantees KHNA's adaptability and responsiveness to the evolving needs and aspirations of its members, all while unwaveringly upholding its cultural values.
- 3. Any individual submitting a nomination for an elected position shall be required to remit a \$250 nomination fee. This fee will be allocated to an election fund, with any surplus funds directed to the trustee board account.

KHNA Bylaws, Revised and Approved on 25 November 2023

Page 43 of 43 Gopalan Nair 🛴 Ѡ